IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Aug 07 2023

08:22PM EDT

Transaction ID 70581379

IN THE MATTER OF:

COMPLAINT NO. 38-2022
THE HONORABLE DEANNA R. ROCK,

SUPREME COURT NO.: 22-862
FAMILY COURT JUDGE of the 23rd FAMILY COURT CIRCUIT

BRIEF OF SPECIAL JUDICIAL DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org West Virginia Judicial Tower, Suite 1200 4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE Charleston, West Virginia 25304 (304) 558-7999 (304) 558-4015 – facsimile

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

Formal charges were filed against the Honorable Deanna R. Rock (hereinafter "Respondent") with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals on or about November 21, 2022, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Clerk on November 30, 2022. Respondent, by and through counsel, filed her Answer to the Statement of Charges on or about December 28, 2022. On or about January 20, 2023, Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel filed Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel's Interrogatories; Request for Production; and Request for Admissions. On that same date, Respondent filed Respondent's Written Discovery. On or about February 17, 2023, Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel filed Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel's Response to Respondent's Written Discovery. On that same date, Respondent filed Respondent's Answers to Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel's Written Discovery. On or about February 21, 2023, Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel filed Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel's Production of Discovery. On or about March 15, 2023, Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel filed Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel's Witness List. On that same date, Respondent filed Respondent's Exhibit and Witness List. On or about March 17, 2023, Lawrence J. Smith made a motion to "bring and use electronic devices to record, and take images of the evidentiary hearing." By order entered March 20, 2023, Judge Clawges granted in part, and denied in part, Mr. Smith's motion.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Morgantown, West Virginia, on March 22, 2023. The Honorable Russel M. Clawges, Jr. served as Hearing Examiner in this matter. Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti appeared as Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel. Lonnie C. Simmons appeared on behalf of Respondent, who also appeared. The Hearing Examiner heard testimony

from The Honorable Charles Parsons; Victor Alan Riley, Esquire; Joy Renee Campbell; and Respondent. In addition, Joint Exhibits 1-34 were admitted into evidence.

On or about May 15, 2023, Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel filed "Special Judicial Disciplinary Counsel's Proposed Findings of Fact, Violations of the Code of Judicial Conduct, and Recommended Sanctions." On that same date, Respondent filed "Respondent's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law."

On or about May 25, 2023, the Judicial Hearing Board (hereinafter "JHB") filed their "Recommended Decision." The JHB recommended that (a.) The Respondent be reprimanded for violations of Rules 1.1 and 2.16(A); and (b.) The Respondent be ordered to pay the costs of the proceedings.

On or about June 15, 2023, Respondent filed "Respondent's Consent to the Judicial Hearing Board's Recommendations Exonerating Her on Five, But Objection to the Recommendations Sustaining Three Charges."

On or about June 26, 2023, SJDC filed her Objection to the JHB Recommended Decision.

B. <u>FINDINGS OF FACT</u>

Respondent became a licensed member of the West Virginia State Bar on May 13, 2004. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 1]. As a member of the West Virginia State Bar, Respondent was not sanctioned by the Lawyer Disciplinary Board or the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 1].

Respondent was elected in an uncontested election to serve as a Family Court Judge for a new seat in the Twenty-Third Family Court Circuit (Hampshire, Mineral and Morgan Counties) in May 2016 and she took office on January 3, 2017. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 1]. As a member of the judiciary, Respondent has not been sanctioned by the Judicial Investigation Commission or the

Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 2]. Respondent and the Honorable Glen R. Stotler are the only family court judges in the Twenty-Third Family Court Circuit. Respondent's primary office is in Mineral County, and FCJ Stotler's primary office is located in Morgan County, West Virginia. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 2]. Respondent served as the President of the West Virginia Family Court Judicial Association from January 1, 2020, until May 11, 2021. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 2].

On or about August 25, 2020, the Judicial Investigation Commission (hereinafter "JIC") found probable cause existed and pursuant to Rule 2.7 (c) issued an Admonishment to FCJ Shuck for conducting "home visits" and the JIC stated that such home visits were not authorized by any statute, rule or case law and that they were "ill-advised and inappropriate." [Joint Exhibit 1 at 2]. FCJ Shuck was publicly admonished for his violations of Rules 1.1; 1.2; 1.3; and 2.5(a) of the Code of Judicial Conduct. FCJ Shuck did not object to the admonishment. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 2].

On September 23, 2020, JDC filed a Statement of Charges with the Clerk of Court after the JIC found probable cause and voted to issue a One-Count formal Statement of Charges against FCJ Goldston charging her with violating Rules 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 2.2, 2.4(B), 2.5 and Rules 3.1(A), (B) and (D) of the Code of Judicial Conduct. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3]. On or about September 30, 2020, FCJ Goldston and her counsel entered into a written agreement with the JDC whereby she would admit to (1) all of the facts contained in paragraphs 1 through 14 of the formal statement of charges; and (2) violating Rules 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 2.2(A), 2.4(B) and 2.5 of the Code of Judicial Conduct for her behavior set forth therein. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3]. The parties set forth factors in mitigation. The parties further agreed to recommend sanctions of a censure, a \$5,000.00 fine and the payment of costs. The agreement was signed by FCJ Goldston and her Counsel Andy Nason on September 30, 2020, and by JDC on October 5, 2020. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3].

Sometime after ethics charges had been issued against her, FCJ Goldston called Respondent to advise her of the charges because she represented to Respondent that she thought it was possible Respondent, as the President of the West Virginia Family Court Judicial Association, might receive some press inquiries. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3] The media never contacted Respondent about this ethics matter. After learning of the charges, Respondent began looking into the issue of home views and was concerned that this issue could impact other Family Court Judges and Respondent communicated this concern to FCJ Goldston. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3]. Although Respondent testified that she believed FCJ Goldston's admissions would impact "judges in general" she acknowledged that despite her attempts to recruit her counterpart with the Circuit Court Judges Association that ultimately the Circuit Court Judges did not intervene in FCJ Goldston's case. [Transcript at 27-28].

In October of 2020, Respondent had a conversation with FCJ Goldston and Respondent asked her "Is there anything we can do to help?" [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3]. FCJ Goldson checked with her lawyer and responded, "If you guys want to send a letter of support about her character and her reputation, that might be helpful." [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3]. Respondent, FCJ Griffith, and FCJ Greenberg reviewed their ethical obligations under Rule 3.3 of the West Virginia Code of Judicial Conduct, entitled "Testifying as a Character Witness." [Joint Exhibit 1 at 3]. This rule specifically prohibits all judges from "testify[ing] as a character witness in a judicial, administrative, or other adjudicatory proceeding or otherwise vouch for the character of a person in a legal proceeding, except when subpoenaed to testify." [Joint Exhibit 1 at 4]. Because they were not providing any testimony, Respondent, FCJ Griffith, and FCJ Greenberg concluded that sending letters in support of FCJ Goldston was not prohibited by this or any other rule. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 4]. On or about October 14 and 15, 2020, Respondent, along with two other family court judges, sent letters of

support for FCJ Goldston to the Judicial Investigation Commission. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 4; Joint Exhibit 2 at 10; Joint Exhibit 3 at 11-12; and Joint Exhibit 4 at 13-14].

The letters were presented to the Judicial Investigation Commission at its October 16, 2020 meeting, and the Commission directed JDC to advise Respondent (and the other two FCJs) that the letter was in violation of Rules 1.3, 2.10(A), and 3.3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct, and although it did not direct that a complaint be opened, JDC was directed to send a letter warning the judges about the conduct. On the same date, JDC Lanham contacted Respondent by telephone to advise Respondent that the letters were in violation of the Code of Judicial Conduct. [Transcript at 64]. Respondent then sent a text to other Family Court Judges advising not to send the letters. [Transcript at 66].

On or about October 21, 2020, the JIC issued Advisory Opinion 2020-25 stating that it was "improper for any judge to voluntarily write a letter of support on behalf of any litigants in any civil or criminal matter pending or impending in any court or administrative venue." [Joint Exhibit 1 at 4 and Joint Exhibit 5 at 15-17]. By letter dated October 22, 2020, Respondent was advised that the JIC had reviewed her submitted letter in support of FCJ Goldston and was of the opinion that the letter was in violation of Rules 1.3, 2.10(A), and 3.3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct. The JIC did not open a complaint, but instead warned Respondent about the violative conduct. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 4 and Joint Exhibit 6 at 18]. The letter was signed by JDC Lanham but is evident that the letter was sent with the direction and authority of the Judicial Investigation Commission. [Joint Exhibit 6 at 18].

FCJ Goldston's disciplinary hearing was held on January 15, 2021. On January 20, 2021, JDC filed a Motion to Disqualify FCJ Stotler from the Goldston judicial disciplinary matter. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 4]. By Order prepared by counsel for the JHB and entered January 22, 2021, FCJ

Stotler declined to disqualify himself. On the same day, Judge Lorensen, Chairperson of the Judicial Hearing Board, required post hearing briefs by the parties addressing legal issues delineated by questions a-l.

Attorney Nason filed a Response to the Judicial Hearing Board Questions on or about February 12, 2021. On or about February 16, 2021, JDC filed its post-hearing brief. On February 16, 2021, an amicus brief was filed by John Bryan, Esquire and the same was ordered filed by order entered by the JHB on February 19, 2021. Attorney Nason filed a corrective brief on February 22, 2021. Attorney Nason also filed a Response Brief with the JHB on or about March 1, 2021.

On or about March 16, 2021, the JHB issued its recommended decision in the Goldston matter. The decision reflected that two JHB members wanted a censure, with the reduced fine. FCJ Stotler dissented because in his opinion there was no clear and convincing evidence that FCJ Goldston violated any provision of the Code.¹

On or about March 18, 2021, FCJ Stotler's Family Court Coordinator, J.R. Campbell, typed the first draft of the "Stotler letter" as FCJ Stotler dictated the substance to her from his handwritten notes. The Microsoft Word document properties indicate that the creator was "Joy Campbell" and it was saved on J.R. Campbell's court-issued computer. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 5 and Joint Exhibit 10 at 25]. On March 19, 2021, the Microsoft Word document entitled "Dear Chief Justice Jenkins" --the March 18th version of the "Stotler letter" created on J.R. Campbell's computer the day prior-- was opened and automatically saved on Respondent's court-issued computer. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 5 and Joint Exhibit 10 at 26].

¹ FCJ Stotler's dissenting opinion fails to address or reconcile FCJ Goldston's knowing, voluntary admission to violating thirteen separate rules of the Code of Judicial Conduct.

Approximately **five** minutes after opening and saving the first draft of the "Stotler Letter" on her computer, on Friday March 19, 2021 at 3:36 pm, Respondent sends a Teams Message to J.R. Campbell "are your phones working?" [Joint Exhibit 11 at 32]. Within **eight** minutes after opening and saving the first draft of the "Stotler Letter", Respondent asks "is Judge still there?" [Joint Exhibit 11 at 33]. After being advised that FCJ Stotler was out for the day, Respondent indicates that she will get a hold of him on Monday. [Joint Exhibit 11 at 34]. First thing on March 22, 2021--Monday morning-- Respondent again sends J.R. Campbell a Teams message about a fax that FCJ Douglass wants FCJ Stotler to see, but that Respondent does not want to send via email. [Joint Exhibit 11 at 36-38].

Later that afternoon, Respondent and J.R. Campbell began to put the final touches on the "Stotler letter". On March 22, 2021, at 2:50 pm, J.R. Campbell asked Respondent about her official title as well as the title for Keith Hoover. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 5 and Joint Exhibit 11 at 40]. On March 22, 2021, at 3:11 p.m., Respondent responded with her title and confirmed the title for Mr. Hoover was correct. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 5 and Joint Exhibit 11 at 40].

In the IM sent on March 24, 2021, at 10:01 a.m., from Ms. Campbell, she asked Respondent if she had received a fax that morning. [Joint Exhibit 11 at 40]. The Teams message states "Good morning. Boss wants to know if you received his fax sent about five minutes ago." Despite Respondent's, FCJ Stotler's and Ms. Campbell's prior sworn testimony to the contrary, Respondent has since stipulated that the fax was the "Stotler letter". After the "Stotler letter" was refaxed because a page was missing, Respondent noted there was a typo on page 2, first paragraph and explained the year 1956 needed to be inside the parenthesis. (IM 3/24/21 at 11:01 a.m.). [Joint Exhibit 11 at 42]. After reviewing the faxed "Stotler letter", Respondent sent an IM explaining, "[O]verall, the letter looks good. Please ask Judge to call me before you mail this. Thanks." (IM

3/24/21 11:05 a.m.). [Joint Exhibit 1 at 5 and Joint Exhibit 11 at 41-42]. All of Respondent's edits made to the drafts of the "Stotler letter" were incorporated into the final version of the "Stotler letter."

On or about March 25, 2021, FCJ Stotler sent and/or directed his staff to send the "Stotler letter" dated March 25, 2021, addressed to Chief Justice Jenkins and carbon copied Supreme Court Justice Walker; Supreme Court Justice Armstead; Supreme Court Justice Hutchison; Supreme Court Justice Wooton; Charles S. Trump, IV, Esquire, Chairman, Senate Judiciary Committee; Moore Capito, Esquire, Chairman House Judiciary Committee; Lisa A. Tackett, Director, Administrative Office; Joseph Armstrong, Administrative Director; and Respondent in her capacity as the President of the Family Court Judicial Association. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 6]. FCJ Stotler alleged that Chief Judicial Disciplinary Counsel and Deputy Judicial Disciplinary Counsel engaged in serious misconduct during the investigation and prosecution of two Family Court Judges.

In his letter to the Chief Justice, FCJ Stotler, in his capacity as a member of the Judicial Hearing Board stated that it was his "observation" that the conduct and practices of JDC in both cases was questionable and concerning and it was "evident to [him]" that JDC is abusing power and authority in the way that they deceive and intimidate judges into entering into agreements with the threat that if they fail to do so, the judges will be subject to far more severe penalties and consequences. He further alleged that JDC requests judges to appear at their office under the "disguise of just being a friendly interview and, once there, the judges are sworn in and interrogated." He further alleged that when Judges inquire of JDC if they should have an attorney to represent them, they are advised they do not need an attorney. Further, he alleged that the judges have "no idea of what they are being subjected to and therefore are given no opportunity to be

prepared to address the issues and interrogation to which they are subjected." FCJ Stotler further asserted that "[i]t is evident that during the interrogation that the JDC actually misrepresents the law to coerce judges into agreements." He further alleged that "[i]t is evident the JDC misstates the facts to achieve their goal." He stated "[i]t is evident the JDC does not believe they are answerable to anyone for their actions, their conduct, or their practices." FCJ Stotler requested that Chief Counsel and Deputy Counsel be investigated, seriously reprimanded and/or terminated from their respective positions. [Joint Exhibit 12 at 52-54].

By emails dated March 30, 2021, Respondent, along with Attorney Rick Staton, FCJ Greenberg, and FCJ Douglas received two emails from FCJ Goldston containing her first draft of her objections to the Judicial Hearing Board's recommendation. It is noted that the email was sent from FCJ Goldston's personal email account to the judicial officer's personal email accounts. [Joint Exhibit 18 and Joint Exhibit 19].

On or about April 2, 2021, an article was written by reporter Chris Dickerson and published by the West Virginia Record entitled "Family court judge chastises Judicial Disciplinary Counsel, says they abuse power." [Joint Exhibit 1 at 6 and Joint Exhibit 17 at 65-67]. Despite the letter's widespread audience, to date the same had not been reported on by the press. Mr. Chris Dickerson, a reporter for the West Virginia Record, received an anonymous email of the "Stotler letter" which had the fax line blacked out and some writing in blue ink that was crossed out. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 6]. The blacked-out portion of the "Stotler Letter" indicates the letter was faxed on March 31, 2021, at 11:15 a.m. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 6 and Joint Exhibit 14 at 56-58], The blacked-out portion further bears the name "Judges Stotler/Rock."

On or about April 6, 2021, while the FCJ Goldston disciplinary matter was still pending before the Supreme Court of Appeals, Respondent emailed a document drafted by or on behalf of

FCJ Goldston entitled "jhb objections corrected" from her personal email account to FCJ Stotler's court-issued email account. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 6 and Joint Exhibit 18 at 68-70]. On the same date, Respondent emailed FCJ Stotler a forwarded second email subject titled "Fw: Corrected objections." The email contained an attachment entitled "jhb objections corrected.docx". The body of the original email was composed by FCJ Goldston and contained the message "I didn't finish my last sentence". The email was sent from Respondent's personal email account to FCJ Stotler's court-issued email account. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 6-7 and Joint Exhibit 19 at 71-73].

Additionally, by letter dated April 6, 2021, Respondent (and two other FCJs) sent a letter to Lisa Tackett, Director of the Division of Court Services at the Supreme Court of Appeals. [Joint Exhibit 1 at 7 and Joint Exhibit 20 at 74-77]. The letter started "[i]n light of the letter Deanna Rock, President of the Family Judicial Association, recently received concerning the actions of Judicial Disciplinary Counsel, please find attached the letters received by the undersigned judges as provided to us by the Judicial Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter the "JDC")." The letter discussed the judges' belief that the issuance of the warning letters was improper and concluded by stating "[i]n our opinion, this action by the JDC is a gross overreach of their job description and function within the process. The JDC used its power to improperly send a warning to a judge (three in this situation) when the JDC is clearly not authorized to do so. This was nothing short of bullying and had a chilling effect on the rights of judges to express their concerns." [Joint Exhibit 20 at 74-77].

As evidenced by the face of the October 2020 warning letter, the accusations regarding JDC's conduct in the April 6, 2021, letter, to which Respondent admitted to drafting on behalf of the three judges, are patently false. [Transcript at 62]. The letter to Lisa Tackett is simply another

means to regurgitate unfounded accusations of misconduct by JDC to further the campaign against these two lawyers.

On or about April 12, 2021, Judge Alan D. Moats, Chairperson of the Judicial Investigation Commission, provided to the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC") the March 25, 2021, letter, addressed to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Appeals² and signed by the FCJ Stotler³. As a result, through its express authority in the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, ODC opened ethics complaints against Teresa A. Tarr, and Brian J. Lanham, both licensed members of the West Virginia State Bar.

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