BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

SCA EFiled: Sep 06 2023

03:45PM EDT

Transaction ID 70805598

IN THE MATTER OF:

JIC COMPLAINT NO. 38-2022 SUPREME COURT NO. 22-862

HONORABLE DEANNA R. ROCK, FAMILY COURT JUDGE of the TWENTY-THIRD FAMILY COURT CIRCUIT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Lonnie C. Simmons (W.Va. I.D. No. 3406) **DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC**P.O. Box 1631

Charleston, West Virginia 25326
(304) 342-0133

lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Respondent Honorable Deanna R. Rock

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

IV. Summary of the argument

A violation of Rule 2.16(A) requires proof of more than a lapse of memory or mere negligence. *Matter of Ferguson*, 242 W.Va. 691, 841 S.E.2d 887 (2020), and *In the Matter of: Williams*, ____ W.Va. ____, 887 S.E.2d 231 (2023), establish that Rule 2.16(A) can be violated by a judge who intentionally lies to the JDC, but a mere mistake is insufficient to sustain a violation of this rule. Although Rule 2.16(A) does not include the word "knowingly" or "intentionally," a higher level of mental culpability can be read into this rule based upon the commonly accepted definitions of "candid" and "honest."

The duty of a judge to be candid and honest with judicial disciplinary agencies requires a judge to be truthful and to refrain from being dishonest and making deliberately false statements to the Board and its agents. Candid is defined as sincere honesty without any deception or duplicity. A judge does not violate Rule 2.16(A) when the judge unintentionally makes a false or misleading statement. To constitute judicial misconduct, lack of candor must be knowing and willful. If a judge provides an inaccurate or false statement under oath, that does not constitute misconduct unless when making the statement judge did not believe it to be true.

The JHB found there was no clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent was intentionally dishonest, but somehow the JHB found Respondent she was less than candid. Therein lies the key to this case. If, as the JHB found, Respondent was not knowingly lying during her first sworn statement when she had no recollection of having seen an earlier draft of the Stotler letter, then how can she be found by clear and convincing evidence of failing to be candid?

Respondent was never intentionally deceitful. At the time she was asked these questions about the Judge Stotler letter, Respondent answered as completely and honestly as her memory

Stotler letter prior to receiving it in the mail and certainly reviewing such a letter was not a violation any statute or ethics rule. What occurred during the first sworn statement was a lapse of memory rather than an intentional lie. Reviewing a draft of the Judge Stotler letter was not a crime or unethical. Respondent could not imagine any reason why a judge under these facts would have lied deliberately about seeing a draft of a letter. Furthermore, the fact that neither Respondent nor Ms. Campbell recalled having any interaction with each other regarding the Judge Stotler letter prior to it being mailed and Judge Stotler and Ms. Campbell did not recall faxing the letter to Respondent supports the conclusion that all of them were telling the truth at the time they gave their sworn statements.

There is no evidence in this record of Respondent, Judge Griffith, or Judge Greenberg "drafting," "submitting," "writing" "sending" or otherwise had any association with Judge Stotler's March 25, 2021 letter. While the JHB engages in a discussion of parsing words, it is the JHB that is parsing the word "association" and concluding this statement lacked candor, even if there is no evidence that Judge Griffin or Judge Greenberg knew anything about the Stotler letter prior to it being mailed. How can these three judges stating in a letter to Judge Moats that they had no association with the Judge Stotler letter somehow be twisted into supporting a Rule 2.16(A) violation against Respondent?

Throughout the **RECOMMENDED DECISION**, the JHB gave substantial credence to Respondent's testimony and found her to be persuasive. Even though this Court makes an independent review of the record in judicial disciplinary cases, this Court will defer to the Board's credibility determinations and resolution of conflicting evidence.

V. Statement regarding oral argument and decision

The Court already has determined that Rule 19 oral argument has been ordered in this case. Because the Court has never issued a judicial ethics opinion addressing whether proving a violation of Rule 2.16(A) by clear and convincing requires evidence that a judge knowingly and deliberately lied or failed to be candid with disciplinary authorities or whether a mere lapse in memory can sustain such a charge, a written decision by a Justice would be appropriate to provide this needed guidance.

VI. Argument

A. Proving a violation of Rule 2.16(A) requires clear and convincing evidence that the judge knowingly and willfully lied or failed to be candid

In its recommended order, the JHB did not address specifically a critical legal issue raised by the facts in this case: Can a judge be held liable for violating Rule 2.16(A) based upon a mere lapse of memory or does there have to be clear and convincing evidence that the judge lied or failed to be candid to sustain this charge?¹⁹ Although this issue was thoroughly briefed by both parties, the JHB makes no mention of this issue in its recommended order.

¹⁹The Special JDC has the burden of proving the allegations in the Statement of Charges filed against Respondent by clear and convincing evidence. Rule 4.5, West Virginia Rules of Judicial Disciplinary Procedure; Syllabus Point 3, *Goldston*; Syllabus Point 2, *Matter of Ferguson*, 242 W.Va. 691, 841 S.E.2d 887 (2020); Syllabus Point 4, *In Re Pauley*, 173 W.Va. 228, 235, 314 S.E.2d 391, 399 (1983); Syllabus Point 1, *Matter of Hey*, 192 W.Va. 221, 452 S.E.2d 24 (1994); Syllabus Point 1, *In re Starcher*, 202 W.Va. 55, 501 S.E.2d 772 (1998).

Clear and convincing proof is "the highest possible standard of civil proof defined as 'that measure or degree of proof which will produce in the mind of the trier of facts a firm belief or conviction as to the allegations sought to be established. It is intermediate, being more than a mere preponderance, but not to the extent of such certainty as is required beyond a reasonable doubt as in criminal cases." *Wheeling Dollar & Savings Trust Co. v. Singer*, 162 W.Va. 502, 510, 250 S.E.2d 369, 374 (1979)(citations omitted).

Respondent's failure to recall certain faxes, emails, and IM's that she saw almost eleven months prior to giving her first sworn statement forms the basis for Charges Three through Seven, where it is alleged Respondent violated Rule 2.16(A) "Cooperation with Disciplinary Authorities." In fact, more charges have been alleged against Respondent, who merely was a witness in the Judge Stotler investigation, than were filed against Judge Stotler.

Rule 2.16(A) provides, "A judge shall cooperate and be candid and honest with judicial and lawyer disciplinary agencies." One of the legal questions raised in this case is what level of mental culpability must the Special JDC prove by clear and convincing evidence to establish these violations? Prior to the hearing, in discussions with counsel for Respondent, the Special JDC suggested that a judge may be liable for violating Rule 2.16(A) if the judge unintentionally provides an incorrect answer under oath, based upon the judge's memory at the time.

So, according to the Special JDC, a judge who testifies under oath in a judicial disciplinary investigation to an incorrect date or fails to recall an innocuous fact may be sanctioned under Rule 2.16(A). While nonlawyer deponents regularly are deposed and given the opportunity to correct any errors in their deposition transcript, the Special JDC asserts not only are judges and lawyers prohibited from reviewing and correcting their sworn statements, they also can suffer serious professional consequences for any erroneous answers provided.

Counsel for Respondent maintained, consistent with the case law cited below, that a violation of Rule 2.16(A) requires proof of more than a lapse of memory or mere negligence. To date, this Court has issued two decisions where a judge was accused of violating Rule 2.16(A). In *Matter of Ferguson*, 242 W.Va. 691, 700, 841 S.E.2d 887, 896 (2020), this Court concluded the magistrate violated Rule 2.16(A), when "he lied to the JDC during his sworn statement when he denied

acting in this disrespectful and coercive manner. Such behavior by a judicial official is wholly unacceptable, especially when it occurs in the context of a law enforcement matter." (Emphasis added). Clearly *Ferguson* involved a knowing and intentional falsehood uttered by the magistrate in an effort to benefit himself.

In *In the Matter of: Williams*, ____ W.Va. ____, 887 S.E.2d 231 (2023), this Court found that several alleged violations of Rule 2.16(A) had not been proven by clear and convincing evidence. In upholding the JHB's conclusion that an alleged violation of Rule 2.16(A) relating to a second Wal-Mart incident, this Court explained a mere mistake is insufficient to prove a violation of this rule:

Similarly, we agree with the JHB that Respondent did not lack candor by failing to disclose the second Wal-Mart incident. JDC's argument in this respect is that Respondent knew JDC was "interested" in the first Wal-Mart incident because it had asked him about it and if the second incident was no big deal, why not disclose it? This argument presupposes something to hide. Respondent made a mistake, and everyone involved knew it was a simple mistake. Of a 168-page transcript of his interview with JDC, Respondent was asked just four questions about the 2019 Wal-Mart incident. To say that the 2019 Wal-Mart incident was on JDC's radar is fair, but it was barely a blip in the overall scheme such that Respondent did not lack candor for failing to disclose a second incident. That is particularly evident given that Prosecutor See and Chief Riggleman were also aware that JDC was "interested" in the 2019 Wal-Mart incident, and it did not occur to either party to disclose the second incident to JDC either. For those reasons, we do not find clear and convincing evidence that Respondent lacked candor with respect to the Wal-Mart incident. (Emphasis added). 887 S.E.2d at 250.

Ferguson and Williams establish that Rule 2.16(A) can be violated by a judge who intentionally lies to the JDC, but a mere mistake is insufficient to sustain a violation of this rule. Although Rule 2.16(A) does not include the word "knowingly" or "intentionally," a higher level of

mental culpability can be read into this rule based upon the commonly accepted definitions of "candid" and "honest." This precise issue was addressed in *In re: Conduct of Karasov*, 805 N.W.2d 255, 268-69 (Minn. 2011), where the Minnesota Supreme explained what has to be proven to establish a violation of Rule 2.16(A):

A duty to be candid and honest with judicial disciplinary agencies requires a judge to be truthful and to refrain from being dishonest and making deliberately false statements to the Board and its agents. See In re King, 857 So.2d 432, 449 (La.2003) ("As recognized by other jurisdictions, [h]onesty is a minimum qualification expected of every judge." (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted)); Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary, 325, 1086 (1961) (defining "candid" as "indicating or suggesting sincere honesty and absence of deception and duplicity" and defining "honest" as "free from fraud or deception: legitimate, truthful"). This duty also includes a duty not to make material omissions during a disciplinary investigation. See Adams v. Comm'n on Judicial Performance, 10 Cal.4th 866, 42 Cal.Rptr.2d 606, 897 P.2d 544, 568 (1995) (disciplining a judge for making false statements and material omissions during a judicial disciplinary investigation); see also Heidbreder v. Carton, 645 N.W.2d 355, 367 (Minn.2002) ("A misrepresentation may be made by an affirmative statement that is itself false or by concealing or not disclosing certain facts that render facts disclosed misleading."). (Emphasis added).

Similarly, in *In re Kroger*, 167 Vt. 1, 7-8, 702 A.2d 64, 68-69 (1997), the Vermont Supreme Court explained that unintentionally false statements made by a judge in a judicial disciplinary proceeding is not an ethics violation:

Although the standard is admittedly high, judges do not violate the Code when they unintentionally make false or misleading statements-that is, when they make mistakes. See In re Davey, 645 So.2d 398, 406-07 (Fla.1994) (to constitute judicial misconduct, lack of candor must be knowing and willful; giving inaccurate or false statement under oath not misconduct unless when making statement judge did not believe it to be true); In re Richter, 409 N.Y.S.2d 1013, 1016-17 (Ct.Jud.1977) (charge that judge gave false testimony to judicial conduct commission not proven where statements were not intentionally or willfully false; mistake in

testimony does not constitute false swearing). The question before us, therefore, is whether respondent knowingly made false, deceptive and misleading statements under oath at the VACJ hearings. Respondent does not dispute that such conduct, if proven, is an appropriate basis for discipline. See, e.g., *in Re fowler*, 602 So.2d 510, 511 (Fla.1992) (judge convicted of giving false statements to police violated code of judicial conduct; lying is serious offense that affects integrity of judicial system as well as public confidence in both judicial process and particular judge); *In re Perry*, 53 A.D.2d 882, 385 N.Y.S.2d 589, 590 (1976) (giving of false testimony by member of judiciary is inexcusable, as judicial officers have responsibility to seek out truth and evaluate credibility of others). (Emphasis added).

Thus, Rule 2.16(A) requires proof by clear and convincing that a judge, in responding to questions posed by disciplinary counsel, deliberately made false statements. In other words, a mere lapse in memory or a mistake or a "negligent" incorrect statement is not sufficient to sustain this charge.

In *Inquiry Concerning Davey*, 645 So.2d 398, 406-07 (1994), the Florida Supreme Court explained to prove that a judge failed to be candid, this failure has to be knowingly and willingly:

[T]he lack of candor must be knowing and willful. See, e.g., In re Berkowitz, 522 So.2d 843 (Fla.1988). It is not enough that the Commission finds a particular judge's version of events unworthy of belief, or finds the testimony of another witness more credible or logical. If such were the case, then every judge who unsuccessfully defends against a charge of misconduct would be open to a charge of lack of candor. Rather than showing simply that a judge made an inaccurate or false statement under oath, the Commission must affirmatively show that the judge made a false statement that he or she did not believe to be true. (Emphasis added).

Because judges are lawyers, judges also must comply with the Code of Professional Conduct. Often in judicial disciplinary cases, references sometimes are made to the Code of Professional Conduct. For example, in *Williams*, 887 S.E.2d at 249, this Court held that one of the Rule 2.16(A) allegations proven by clear and convincing evidence also violated Rule 8.4 of the Code of Professional Conduct.

Some of the Rules of Professional Conduct require proof that the lawyer knowingly violated the standard. Rule 4.1 of the Rules of Professional Conduct entitled "Truthfulness in Statements to Other" specifically requires that a lawyer shall not "knowingly" make false statements or fail to disclose a material fact. Rule 3.3 of the Rules of Professional Conduct entitled "Candor Toward the Tribunal" specifically prohibits a lawyer from "knowingly" commit the various acts listed thereunder.

However, other Rules included in the Code of Professional Conduct are silent with respect to whether there has to be proof of a knowing or intentional violation of the standard. Several courts have addressed the issue of "misrepresentation" and "dishonesty" in applying Rule 8.4(c) of the Code of Professional Conduct or its predecessor DR 1-102(A)(4), which provides it is professional misconduct for a lawyer to "engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation." In contrast to Rules 3.3 and 4.1 cited above, these rules are silent on what level of mental culpability is required to prove a violation.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court in *Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Anonymous Attorney*, 552 Pa. 223, 233, 714 A.2d 402, 407 (1998), reviewed decisions from other jurisdictions analyzing Rule 8.4(c), and concluded a negligent misrepresentation is insufficient to prove a violation of this rule:

It is evident from our review of other jurisdictions' decisions that our sister states have required a showing of some level of mental culpability, beyond mere negligence, on the part of the accused attorney before an attorney's violation of either DR 1-102(A)(4) or Rule 8.4(c) for a misrepresentation is made out.

* * *

Thus, we hold that a culpable mental state greater than negligence is necessary to establish a *prima facie* violation of Rule 8.4(c).

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